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I. STATEMENT

1. On December 12, 2017, the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Commission or PUC) filed Civil Penalty Assessment or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 118246, which alleges the following violations by J C Auto Towing LLC (JC Towing): (a) 10 violations of Rule 6005(a)(I) for tows undertaken January 18, 2017 to June 5, 2017 for failure to maintain required tow records for three years; (b) 30 violations of Rule 6508(b)(1) from April 30, 2016 
to June 22, 2017 for failure to have proper authorization before a nonconsensual tow; 
(c) 71 violations of Rule 6509(a)(II) from January 1, 2017 to June 29, 2017 for failure to include all required addresses on towing receipts; (d) 35 violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV) from January 7, 2017 to June 26, 2017 for failure to include the storage time on towing receipts; (e) five violations of Rule 6509(a)(IX) from March 29, 2017 to June 28, 2017 for failure to include the tow unit/license number on towing receipts; and (f) one violation of Rule 6511(h) for failure to provide the proper notification to owner(s) and lienholder(s) prior to selling an abandoned vehicle on April 24, 2017.
  CPAN No. 118246 states that the civil penalty assessed for 
the alleged violations is $67,375.00, plus an additional 15 percent surcharge, for a total of $77,481.25, but that if JC Towing pays the civil penalty within ten calendar days of its receipt of the CPAN, the civil penalty will be reduced to $38,370.63.  The CPAN further states that, if the Commission does not receive payment within ten days, the CPAN will convert into a Notice of Complaint to Appear and a hearing will be scheduled at which the Commission Staff (Staff) will seek the civil penalty plus the 15 percent surcharge for the cited violations.
  Finally, the CPAN states that the PUC may order JC Towing to cease and desist from violating statutes and Commission rules.
  

2. The CPAN states that the Commission served the CPAN by certified mail, and a printout from the U.S. Postal Service’s website states that the package was delivered to an individual at an address in Denver, Colorado on December 11, 2017.

3. JC Towing has not paid any amount, much less the reduced civil penalty amount or the total civil penalty amount, of the CPAN.  

4. On December 14, 2017, counsel for JC Towing entered his appearance and requested a hearing on the CPAN.  

5. On January 3, 2018, the Commission referred Proceeding No. 17G-0839TO to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) for disposition.  The proceeding was subsequently assigned to the undersigned ALJ.  

6. On January 17, 2018, the ALJ issued Decision No. R18-0043-I that, among other things, scheduled the evidentiary hearing in this proceeding for March 22 through 23, 2018.  

7. Due to a scheduling conflict, the hearing was rescheduled to May 2 and 3, 2018 in Decision No. R18-0193-I that issued on March 20, 2018.

8. On May 2 and 3, 2018, the ALJ held the hearing.  Staff and Respondent JC Towing appeared through their respective counsel.  
9. At the hearing, Investigator Adam String and Chief Investigator Tony Cummings of the Commission’s Transportation Section testified for Staff in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 118246.  Joseph Martinez testified on behalf of Respondent.  
Exhibits 1-7, 9-25, A, K, and L; and Confidential Exhibits 1C, 2C, 3C, 4C, 5C, 6C, 7C, 11C, 12C, 14C, 15C, 16C, 17C, and KC, were admitted into evidence.  Finally, during the hearing, Staff stipulated to the dismissal of Counts 115, 118, 126, 128, 145, 147, 149, and 152. 
10. In reaching this Recommended Decision the ALJ has considered all arguments presented, including those arguments not specifically addressed in this Decision.  Likewise, the ALJ has considered all evidence presented at the hearing, even if the evidence is not specifically addressed in this Decision.  

II. FINDINGS OF FACT    

A. Background

11. The investigation that culminated with the issuance of CPAN No. 118246 began with a complaint from a lienholder on a vehicle that had been sold after being towed by JC Towing.  It is not clear when the lienholder lodged the complaint with the PUC, though evidence in the record suggests that it was in April or May 2017.
  The lienholder claimed that it had not been notified that the vehicle had been towed as abandoned and would be sold by JC Towing within 30 days unless the lienholder and/or the owner came forward.  The evidence established that Joseph Martinez, the owner of JC Towing, towed the vehicle from private property at 14081 East Colfax Avenue in Aurora, Colorado on April 30, 2016 and notified the Aurora Police Department of the tow, as required by § 42-4-2103(2).
  Moreover, Investigator String testified that Mr. Martinez told him he provided the required notice to the owner of the vehicle and the lienholder of the potential sale of the vehicle.
  While Mr. Martinez produced documentary evidence providing some support to his contention,
 he did not provide conclusive documentary proof that he had provided the notice required by § 42-4-2103, C.R.S.  Regardless, Staff stipulated to the dismissal of Count 152 of the CPAN, which was the only count alleged in the CPAN addressing the allegedly improper sale of the vehicle by JC Towing.  

However, JC Towing’s actions with respect to the tow and then sale of this vehicle were the impetus behind the expansion of the investigation of JC Towing.
  Investigator String testified that JC Towing sold the vehicle to Mr. Martinez’s son-in-law, though the documentary evidence in the record suggests that JC Towing sold the vehicle to Denver Auto Industry who 

12. then sold the vehicle to Mr. Martinez’s son-in-law.
  In any event, Investigator Strong viewed this series of events as “egregious,” which, when combined with the Commission’s past investigations into JC Towing, justified expansion of the investigation.

13. In expanding the investigation, Investigator String first requested all records from the Aurora Police Department of nonconsensual tows undertaken by JC Towing at 14081 East Colfax Avenue in Aurora, Colorado from January 1, 2017 to June 30, 2017.
  This was the address from which the vehicle was towed by JC Towing that was the subject of the complaint.  The Aurora Police Department responded that it had no records of tows from that property during the six months specified in Investigator String’s request.
  

14. Investigator String then reviewed the Commission’s files for evidence of other properties from which JC Towing regularly towed vehicles.  Within the Commission’s files, Investigator String found property agreements for, and complaints concerning tows from, two properties in Denver.  They are: (a) the parking lot of the McDonald’s restaurant at 1350 West Colfax Avenue in Denver, Colorado; and (b) the parking lot of the Qdoba restaurant at 4081 East Colfax Avenue in Denver, Colorado.
  

15. Investigator String next requested from the Denver Police Department all records of tows from those two properties from January 1, 2017 to June 30, 2017.
   Investigator String received records of tows from the two properties during the relevant time period.  The records were voluminous, so Investigator String created spreadsheets of the tows based on the records supplied by the Denver Police Department.
  Investigator String then requested from Mr. Martinez JC Towing’s records relating to the tows identified in the records supplied by the Denver Police Department.  Mr. Martinez supplied some of the records requested by Investigator String, but allegedly could not find the remainder.
 

16. After conducting its analysis of the records supplied by the Denver Police Department and Mr. Martinez, and before initiating this proceeding, Staff sent letters to 187 individuals who were towed by JC Towing.
  Staff instructed the recipients of the letters that they may be entitled to a refund of the towing fees because their vehicles “may have been towed improperly.”
  The letters asked the recipients to contact Investigator String.  Ninety-six recipients of the letters did so.
  

17. Staff next sent a letter to JC Towing dated November 14, 2017 requesting it to refund the 96 vehicle owners who had responded to Staff’s letter for the towing fees that JC Towing charged them.  This amounted to almost $27,000 in refunds.  The letter stated that “a number of violations were discovered during the investigation,” including violations of Rules 6005(a)(1), 6508(b)(I), 6509(a)(II), 6509(a)(IV), 6509(a)(IX), 6509(a)(XI), 6509(a)(XII), and 6511.
  While the letter identified the invoices at issue, it did not provide any detail concerning Staff’s conclusion that JC Towing had violated the rules.  The letter further stated that, if JC Towing did not pay the refunds by November 27, 2017, Staff would pursue civil penalties for the tows.
  
18. After receiving the refund letter, Mr. Martinez spoke with Investigator String by telephone and requested to meet in person.  At the subsequent meeting attended by Mr. Martinez, his attorney, and Staff, Staff declined to discuss the basis for its conclusions that JC Towing had violated the rules cited in the letter.  Instead, Staff reiterated that, if JC Towing did not pay the refunds by the November 27, 2017 deadline, Staff would pursue civil penalties for the tows.
  

19. JC Towing did not pay the refunds.  According to Mr. Martinez, JC Towing simply did not have the ability to do so.  As a result, Investigator String signed the CPAN 
on December 6, 2017, and then served and filed the CPAN on December 11, 2017 and December 12, 2017, respectively.  The CPAN alleges 152 Counts but does not cite as illegal 47 of the tows identified in Staff’s refund letters sent by Staff.
  

B. CPAN No. 118246

20. CPAN No. 118246 alleges the following Counts:

	CPAN Counts 
	Dates of Alleged Violations

	Rule Violated
	Basis

	1-10
	1/18, 1/24, 1/28, 2/2, 2/4, 2/6, 4/5, 5/26, 6/4, 6/5
	6005(a)(I)
	Failure to maintain required tow records for three years.


	11-40
	4/30/2016 (9055),
 1/23 (9358), 1/25 (8301), 1/26 (9364), 
1/27 (9351), 2/17 (9381), 2/27 (9413), 3/8 (9428), 3/8 (9431), 
3/8 (9386), 3/17 (9436), 3/20 (9441), 4/3 (9459), 4/7 (9478), 
4/14 (9250), 4/14 (9000), 4/15 (9251), 4/17 (9254), 4/18 (9256), 4/18 (9257), 4/20 (9264), 4/21 (9267), 4/24 (9273), 
4/25 (9274), 4/28 (9037), 5/1 (9040), 5/27 (9084), 
6/2 (9110), 6/9 (9142), 6/22 (9146)
	6508(b)(I)
	Failure to have proper authorization before performance of nonconsensual tow

	41-111
	1/1 (9312), 1/1 (9314), 1/1 (9313), 1/2 (9318), 1/6 (9317), 1/8 (9324), 1/12 (9331), 1/15 (9336), 1/15 (9352), 1/24 (9389), 1/25 (9363), 1/29 (9369), 2/18 (9396), 2/22 (9404), 2/25 (9408), 2/28 (9415), 3/1 (9425), 3/1 (9416), 3/4 (9420), 3/4 (9426), 3/5 (9427), 3/8 (9424), 3/10 (9407), 3/11 (9382), 3/12 (9384), 3/18 (9438), 3/19 (9435), 3/23 (9444), 3/24 (9446), 3/24 (9443), 3/26 (9451), 3/28 (9403), 2/39 (9453), 4/3 (9464), 4/3 (9468), 4/5 (9471), 4/6 (9383), 4/12 (9489), 4/18 (9258), 4/20 (9001), 4/21 (9266), 4/28 (9041), 4/28 (9039), 5/3 (9035), 5/3 (9262), 5/4 (9046), 5/5 (9051), 5/5 (9048), 5/5 (9052), 5/15 (9060), 5/15 (9057), 5/17 (9062), 5/18 (9064), 5/24 (8576), 5/25 (9076), 5/26 (9081), 5/26 (9079), 5/28 (9083), 5/30 (9085), 6/1 (9108), 6/3 (9112), 6/3 (9109), 6/6 (9118), 6/7 (9122), 6/21 (9144), 6/21 (9139), 6/21 (9136), 6/22 (9145), 6/24 (9150), 6/28 (9157), 6/29 (9158) 
	6509(a)(II)
	Failure to include all required addresses on towing receipts

	112-146
	1/7 (9320), 1/11 (9330), 1/14 (9354), 1/17 (9347), 1/17 (9348), 1/20 (9344), 1/20 (9355), 1/27 (9365), 1/30 (9360), 2/17 (9391), 2/19 (9397), 2/22 (9405), 3/1 (9419), 3/7 (9430), 3/10 (9421), 3/13 (9385), 3/22 (9388), 3/25 (9447), 3/26 (9450), 3/29 (9454), 3/31 (9460), 4/9 (9483), 4/9 (9481), 4/11 (9486), 4/25 (9276), 4/25 (9276), 5/1 (9042), 5/12 (8578), 5/12 (8577), 5/20 (9069), 5/26 (9078), 6/14 (9131), 6/23 (9155), 6/24 (9148), 6/26 (9153) 
	6509(a)(IV)
	Failure to include storage time on towing receipts

	147-151
	3/29 (9457), 4/5 (9470), 4/12 (9492), 5/18 (9063), 6/28 (9156)
	6509(a)(IX)
	Failure to include the tow unit/license number on towing receipts

	152
	4/24 (9272)
	6511(h)
	Failure to provide notification to owner(s) and lienholder(s) prior to sale of abandoned vehicle based on §§ 42-4-1804, 2103, C.R.S.


21. At the hearing, Staff dismissed Counts 115, 118, 126, 128, 145, 147, 149, and 152, which are underlined in the preceding table.
  JC Towing stipulated at the hearing that: (a) the invoices cited in Counts 41 through 111 contain only one address (the address of JC Towing’s storage lot); (b) nothing is written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field in the invoices cited in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146; and (c) nothing is written in the “Unit” field in the invoices cited in Counts 148, 150, and 151.
  JC Towing continued to dispute whether the absence of the information on the invoices associated with these Counts constitutes a violation of the applicable Commission rule.
  

C. Alleged Rule 6005(a)(I) Violations (Counts 1 through 10)

22. Investigator String testified in Staff’s case-in-chief that he requested documentation concerning the ten tows identified in Counts 1 through 10 of the CPAN, but JC Towing did not provide it.  As support, Investigator String stated that he requested from JC Towing all of its records concerning the tows performed by JC Towing from January 1, 2017 to June 30, 2017 identified in the records provided by the Denver Police Department.  Investigator String testified further that he made an inventory of the records produced by JC Towing when he took possession of them, which was Exhibit 22.  According to Investigator String, the inventory accurately identifies all of the records produced by JC Towing in response to Investigator String’s request on the date that Investigator String took possession of them.
  Mr. Martinez signed the inventory both when Investigator String took possession of the documents to make copies of them and when Investigator String returned them.
   

23. JC Towing does not dispute that it conducted the tows listed in Counts 1 through 10.  At the hearing, Mr. Martinez testified that he produced all of the documents requested by Investigator String, including records of the tows referenced in Counts 1 through 10 of the CPAN.
  As support, Mr. Martinez produced two invoices – 9346 and 9389, which were admitted as Exhibit A – that are the records of the tows that serve as the bases for Counts 1 and 2, respectively.  Invoice 9389 is listed on the inventory
 and Staff conceded during its rebuttal case that Investigator String received it.
  Invoice 9346 is not listed on Investigator String’s inventory.
  JC Towing suggests that Investigator String must have lost some of the tow invoices and that his inventory does not accurately reflect the documents produced by Mr. Martinez.  

24. In addition, JC Towing pointed out that, while Investigator String’s inventory identifies 142 invoices, there are 192 invoices in Staff’s Exhibits 11 and 14.
  Based on this evidence, Investigator String conceded that he did not make a comprehensive inventory of the records produced by JC Towing.
  JC Towing thus suggested that the differences between the inventory (Exhibit 22), invoices produced by Staff (Exhibits 11 and 14), and the two invoices introduced into evidence at the hearing as Exhibit A, undermine the reliability of Investigator String’s allegation that JC Towing did not produce the invoices relating to the tows identified in Counts 1 through 10 in the CPAN.  JC Towing further implied that JC Towing did produce the invoices for the tows identified in Claims 3 through 10, but Investigator String did not return them to Mr. Martinez and/or lost them.

Based on the foregoing, the ALJ finds that JC Towing maintained and ultimately produced the records for the tows identified in Counts 1 and 2 of the CPAN.  However, JC Towing did not provide any documentation concerning the tows identified in Counts 3 

25. through 10 of the CPAN in response to Investigator String’s request or at the hearing.  JC Towing’s argument that differences between Exhibits 11, 14, 22, and A undermine Investigator String’s allegations supporting Counts 3 through 10 of the CPAN, and that Investigator String lost the invoices for the tows identified in Counts 3 through 10, are unpersuasive.  

D. Alleged Rule 6508(b)(I) Violations (Counts 11 through 40)

26. Staff presented testimony and documentary evidence in the form of JC Towing’s invoices through Investigator String supporting claims 12, 14, 16 through 23, and 25 through 40.  The ALJ finds that the following invoices: 

	Invoice
	Claim
	Citation to Record
	Finding

	9055
	Count 11
	Ex. 3
	Includes a signature, but not a name.

	9358
	Count 12
	Ex. 11 at 2
	

	9364
	Count 14
	Ex. 11 at 3
	

	9428
	Count 18
	Ex. 11 at 11
	

	9431
	Count 19
	Ex. 11 at 9
	

	9386
	Count 20
	Ex. 11 at 10
	

	9436
	Count 21
	Ex. 11 at 12
	

	9441
	Count 22
	Ex. 11 at 13
	

	9459
	Count 23
	Ex. 11 at 14
	

	9250
	Count 25
	Ex. 11 at 18
	

	9254
	Count 28
	Ex. 11 at 22
	

	9256
	Count 29
	Ex. 11 at 23
	

	9257
	Count 30
	Ex. 11 at 24
	

	9264
	Count 31
	Ex. 11 at 25
	

	9273
	Count 33
	Ex. 11 at 29
	

	9274
	Count 34
	Ex. 11 at 30
	

	9037
	Count 35
	Ex. 11 at 32
	

	9142
	Count 39
	Ex. 11 at 38
	

	9381
	Count 16
	Ex. 11 at 5
	Does not include 
a telephone number written by the individual authorizing the tow.

	9413
	Count 17
	Ex. 11 at 7
	

	9267
	Count 32
	Ex. 11 at 27
	

	9110
	Count 38
	Ex. 11 at 37
	

	9084
	Count 37
	Ex. 11 at 35
	Includes a name, but not a signature.

	9146
	Count 40
	Ex. 11 at 39
	


27. As to invoices 9000 (Count 26), 9251 (Count 27), and 9040 (Count 36),
 Staff asserted that they included either a printed name or a signature, but not both.  Those invoices contain the name “Sarai Mayes” written once.  However, on other invoices, Ms. Mayes wrote her name the same way twice on the line for the signature and name, which suggests that she both signs and prints her name the same way.
  Accordingly, the ALJ finds that Staff has not established that invoices 9000, 9251, and 9040 are missing either a name or a signature.  

28. Finally, Staff did not provide testimony identifying the specific basis for the alleged violation in Counts 13 (Invoice 8301), 15 (invoice 9351), or 24 (invoice 9478).    

E. Alleged Rule 6509(a)(II) Violations (Counts 41 through 111)

29. JC Towing does not dispute that the invoices cited in Counts 41 through 111 contain only one address (the address of JC Towing’s storage lot).  It is also undisputed that at the time that the tows identified in the invoices took place, JC Towing had two addresses on file with the Commission: (a) the address of JC Towing’s storage lot; and (b) the physical/mailing address of JC Towing.
  Tony Cummings, who is the Lead Criminal Investigator in the Transportation Section of the Commission, testified that it is important to have both addresses on the invoices because the storage address is where a towed car can be retrieved and the physical/mailing address is where correspondence can be sent and is typically where tow records are stored.
 

30. Mr. Martinez testified that the Commission has accused him in the past of rule violations.  In some of those cases, he provided to Commission Investigators the invoices for the allegedly offending tows.  According to Mr. Martinez, the invoices he provided, like the invoices at issue here, listed only the address of JC Towing’s storage facility, even though he also listed a separate physical/mailing address in the Commission’s records at that time.
  Mr. Martinez further testified that no Commission Investigator ever told him that his invoices were incorrect because they did not list the addresses for both his company’s physical address and storage location.
 
F. Alleged Rule 6509(a)(IV) Violations (Counts 112 through 146)

31. As noted above, Staff stipulated to the dismissal of Counts 115, 118, 126, 128, and 145.  As to the remainder of the Counts alleging violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV), JC Towing does not dispute that nothing is written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field in the invoices cited in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146.  JC Towing does dispute the evidentiary basis for Counts 112 and 113.  

At the hearing, Staff presented evidence that nothing is written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field in the invoices 9320 and 9330 cited in Counts 112 and 113, respectively.
  For his part, Mr. Martinez testified that nothing is written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field in those 

32. invoices because “VOID” is written on the invoices.  According to Mr. Martinez, “VOID” means that the vehicle never left the parking lot because either the owner appeared before the tow, or the owner of the vehicle was an employee of the establishment, and the vehicle was thus incorrectly identified as subject to being towed.  Mr. Martinez testified that, in both circumstances, the vehicles were disconnected from the towing vehicle before the tow took place and thus were never stored in JC Towing’s storage lot. 

33. Based on the foregoing, the ALJ finds that nothing is written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field in the invoices cited in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146.  The ALJ further finds Mr. Martinez’s testimony credible that invoices 9320 and 9330 cited in Counts 112 and 113, respectively, do not have a time written in the “Time At Storage Lot” field because they were disconnected from the tow vehicle prior to being towed and thus were never stored in JC Towing’s storage lot.  Finally, the ALJ finds that JC Towing charged the owners of the vehicles listed in the tow records/invoices cited in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146 for one day of storage.  

G. Alleged Rule 6509(a)(IX) Violations (Counts 148, 150, and 151)

34. As noted above, Staff stipulated to the dismissal of Claims 147 and 149, and JC Towing does not dispute that nothing is written in the “Unit” field in the invoices cited in Counts 148, 150, and 151.
  It is also undisputed that JC Towing had two tow trucks during all times relevant to the Counts in this proceeding.
  Mr. Martinez also testified that Staff informed him that he needed to identify on the tow invoice which tow truck he used for the tow by writing in the unit number (either one or two) on the invoice in the field entitled “Unit.”
  The record also reflects that Mr. Martinez at-times filled out the unit field in his invoices.
   
H. JC Towing’s History with the Commission

From June 2011 until November 2016, JC Towing received eight violation warning letters and two CPANs.  Two of the warning letters issued in June 2011 and November 2012 and addressed JC Towing’s invoices, alleging that they: (a) stated “Colo PUC # 303-894-2846 or 2848” rather than “Report problems to the Public Utilities Commission at (303) 894-2070”;
 (b) did not identify the time two vehicles were placed in storage;
 (c) did not identify the address or phone number of the person(s) authorizing the tows;
 and (d) did not identify the unit number of the vehicle(s) performing the tows.
  The other warning letters issued in February (one letter), July (two letters), August (one letter), and November (two letters) 2016 and addressed the alleged failures of JC Towing: (a) to be available to release a stored vehicle; (b) to provide tow records upon request or to retain the records;
 (c) to include on a contract between JC Towing and a property owner the title of the person who signed the contract on behalf of JC Towing;
 (d) to obtain the authorization for a nonconsensual tow by an individual authorized to approve the tow (an individual allegedly without authority approved the tow);
 and (e) to post and maintain signs at lots from which tows were performed.
 The CPANs issued in 

35. December 2011 and April 2013 alleged that JC Towing’s invoices did not include: (a) “Report problems to the Public Utilities Commission at (303) 894-2070”;
 and (b) the unit number or license number of the tow vehicle that performed the tow.
  Finally, the 2013 CPAN alleged that the tow operator failed to release a vehicle on demand during normal business hours.
  
I. JC Towing’s Ability to Pay Penalties

36. JC Towing submitted the 2016 federal tax return of Mr. Martinez and his wife.
  It shows that in 2016, JC Towing had total income of almost $31,000, and that Mr. Martinez and his wife had no other income.  Mr. Martinez also testified that, while he has not yet filed his federal tax return for 2017, he does not anticipate that the income of JC Towing will be significantly different from 2016.  This is corroborated by the January to December 2016 Profit and Loss Statement provided by JC Towing, which shows net income of $28,076.

37. At the hearing, Mr. Martinez testified that he would have to sell all of his assets, including his tow trucks, to pay the $88,521.60 in penalties and refunds sought by Staff.
  According to Mr. Martinez, this would put JC Towing out of business, which is corroborated by the tax return and profit and loss statement.  The ALJ finds Mr. Martinez’s testimony concerning his ability to pay the fines and refunds, and the consequences of having to do so, credible.  
III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Jurisdiction

38. The CPAN alleges the violations of the Commission’s rules noted above.  Section 40-7-116(1)(a), C.R.S., specifies that “[i]nvestigative personnel of the commission . . . have the authority to issue civil penalty assessments for the violations,” of, among other things, the Commission’s rules.  Accordingly, the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this proceeding.

39. In addition, JC Towing was properly served with CPAN No. 118246.
  Respondent was also served with timely and adequate notice of the evidentiary hearing scheduled in Decision No. R18-0193-I.  The Commission thus has personal jurisdiction over Respondent.  

B. Burden of Proof

40. Staff bears the burden of proving its case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The evidence must be “substantial evidence,” which is defined as “such relevant evidence as a reasonable [person’s] mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion ... it must be enough to justify, if the trial were to a jury, a refusal to direct a verdict when the conclusion sought to be drawn from it is one of fact for the jury.”
  A party has satisfied its burden under this standard when the evidence, on the whole, tips in favor of that party.  

C. Intent

41. At the time of the violations alleged in the CPAN, § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., stated:
A person who intentionally violates . . . any rule promulgated by the commission pursuant to [title 40, C.R.S.], or any safety rule adopted by the department of public safety relating to motor carriers as defined in [§ 40-10.1-101, C.R.S.,] may be assessed a civil penalty of not more than one thousand one hundred dollars; except that any person who violates a safety rule promulgated by the commission is subject to the civil penalties authorized pursuant to 49 CFR [part] 386, subpart G, and associated appendices to part 386, as [subpart G] existed on October 1, 2010.
 

42. To meet its burden of proof with respect to each count, therefore, Staff must prove that: (a) on the stated date, Respondent violated the cited rule; and (b) Respondent's violation was intentional, or the cited rule is a Colorado safety rule, in which case the intent of the Respondent is irrelevant.
  The Commission has not specified which of its rules are “safety rules.”  Instead, the Commission has stated that 

The Commission’s current regulations do not identify which rules are “safety rules” subject to the “except” clause of § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S.  Absent further rulemaking, we will depend upon the expertise and discretion of the ALJs and hearing officers to implement procedures to hear charges of safety rule violations and to ensure respondents are afforded due process rights in defending such charges.

43. One ALJ has effectively held that Rule 6508(b)(1) is not a safety rule, at least when the underlying basis for the violation is that a towing contract (as opposed to an invoice) does not include the correct address for the Respondent’s storage facility.
  

44. For non-safety rules, proof that a Respondent was aware of an obligation, requirement, or restriction contained in a rule, but nonetheless performed an act or omission that violated the obligation, requirement, or restriction, satisfies the intent element.  The Commission has also stated that: 

A respondent’s knowledge or awareness of an obligation may be demonstrated in multiple ways.  In addition to showing a prior violation of an identical obligation, such proof may include, for example, conversations or correspondence with the respondent about the requirement, receipt of SCRs explaining the obligations, or a respondent's execution of a document admitting knowledge of the rule.

45. In this proceeding, Staff has not argued, or presented any evidence that any of the rules JC Towing has been accused of violating are safety rules.  

D. Violations of Rule 6005(a)(I) (Counts 1 through 10)

46. Rule 6005(a)(I) states that “motor carriers shall maintain all records required 
by these rules for three years.”
  Rule 6509(a) requires towing carriers to “use and complete 
all applicable portions of a tow record/invoice form for all nonconsensual tows.”  And, Rule 6509(b) requires a towing carrier to “retain the copy of the tow record/invoice bearing all required original signatures for authorization and release.” 

47. Here, Investigator String requested the records relating to the tows identified in Counts 1 through 10.  JC Towing produced the invoices for the tows identified in Counts 1 and 2 at the hearing,
 but did not provide any documentation relating to the tows identified in Counts 3 through 10 at the hearing or in response to Investigator String’s request.  
48. In addition, Exhibit 19 establishes that the Commission issued warning letters to JC Towing in February and August 2016 alleging that JC Towing violated Commission Rules 6005(a)(I) and 6005(b)(I)(B) for failure to maintain records for three years and failure to provide records upon request,
 respectively.  The warning letters were sent to the address on file with the Commission provided by JC Towing.  JC Towing did not present any evidence that it did not receive the letters.  
49. Accordingly, the ALJ finds and concludes that Staff satisfied its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that JC Towing intentionally violated Rule 6005(a)(I) on the dates identified in Counts 3 through 10. 
E. Violations of Rule 6508(b)(1) (Counts 11 through 40)

50. Rule 6508(b)(1)(C) states in relevant part that “[a] towing carrier shall not tow any motor vehicle unless . . . (C) the towing carrier is requested to perform a tow upon the authorization of the property owner.”
  Rule 6501(m)(I)-(II) specifies that a “Property owner” is either “the owner or lessee of the private property” or “a person who has been authorized in writing to act as an authorized agent for the property owner or lessee of the private property” from which the vehicle is towed.
  Rule 6509(a)(VII)(A)-(B) requires the “tow record/invoice” for a nonconsensual tow to include, among other things, “(A) the name, address, and telephone number of the person authorizing the tow; and (B) the signature of the property owner authorizing a tow.”
  

51. Staff argues that Rule 6509(a)(VII) requires the person authorizing the nonconsensual tow to both sign, and to write separately his/her name on, the tow record/invoice.  According to Staff, a signature is necessary because it signifies that the signatory authorized the tow.  A separately written name is also necessary because it is more likely to be legible than a signature and the vehicle owner and Staff must be able to identify who authorized the tow.  Staff also asserts that Rule 6509(a)(VII) requires the person authorizing the nonconsensual tow to include a telephone number on the “tow record/invoice.”  If the “tow record/invoice” does not include one of these requirements, then it does not constitute evidence of authorization for the nonconsensual tow.

52. JC Towing does not dispute that Rule 6509(a)(VII)(A) plainly requires a “telephone number of the person authorizing the tow” to be written on the “tow record/invoice.”  Instead, JC Towing argues that Rule 6509(a)(VII)(A) does not state that the “name” identified therein must be a written name separate from the signature.  JC Towing also asserts that a signature is a name such that a signature or a printed name satisfies the requirements of Rule 6509(a)(VII).  According to JC Towing, Staff is incorrect that a signature and a separately written name are required under the Rule.  JC Towing argues in the alternative that Rule 6509(a)(VII) is ambiguous and that the proper interpretation is that a printed name or a signature satisfies the requirements of both Rule 6509(a)(VII)(A) and (B).  As support for its conclusion that Rule 6509(a)(VII) is ambiguous, JC Towing points to the use of “the person authorizing the tow” in subsection A and “the property owner authorizing a tow” in subsection B.  JC Towing states that it is not clear whether the “the person authorizing the tow” in subsection A and “the property owner authorizing the tow” in subsection B are the same person or different people.  Finally, JC Towing argues that Rule 6509(a)(VII) is unconstitutionally vague.  

53. Staff has presented evidence that JC Towing intentionally violated the telephone number requirement.  Specifically, JC Towing received a warning letter on November 5, 2012 alleging that JC Towing violated the requirement in Rule “6509(A)” that the specific tow invoices identified in the letter identify the “phone number of the person authorizing the tows.”
  While the letter is dated, it is sufficient to establish JC Towing’s knowledge of the requirement and thus intent to commit the violations alleged in the CPAN.  Accordingly, Staff has carried its burden of establishing that JC Towing intentionally violated the requirement of Rules 6508(b)(I) and 6509(a)(VII) to include the telephone number of the person authorizing the tow (Counts 16, 17, 32, and 38).  

54. However, assuming that Rule 6509(a)(VII) requires the person authorizing the nonconsensual tow to include on the tow record/invoice both his/her signature and his/her separately-written name, Staff has not presented evidence that JC Towing intentionally violated this alleged requirement.  None of the warning letters and CPANs included this specific violation.  While Investigator String testified that he spoke with Mr. Martinez about the alleged violations in the current CPAN, there is no evidence that a member of the Commission communicated with Mr. Martinez or any other representative of JC Towing regarding these specific requirements of Rules 6508(b)(I) and 6509(a)(VII) before JC Towing committed the violations alleged in the CPAN.  Accordingly, based on the foregoing, Staff has not satisfied its burden of establishing that JC Towing intentionally violated the alleged requirement of Rules 6508(b)(I) and 6509(a)(VII) to include both the signature and separately-written name of the person authorizing the tow (Counts 11, 12, 14, 18-23, 25, 28-31, 33-35, 37, 39, and 40).   

F. Violations of Rule 6509(a)(II) (Counts 41 through 111)

55. Rules 6509(a)(II) and (III) state in relevant part:

The tow record/invoice shall contain the following information: 

. . . 

(II)
the name, address, permit number, and telephone number of [the] towing carrier; 

(III)
the address of the storage facility used by the towing carrier, including the telephone number for that storage facility if the number is different than the telephone number of the towing carrier.
  

56. Staff argues that these two provisions require the address of the towing carrier and the address of the carrier’s storage facility to be listed on the tow record/invoice, if the towing carrier has separate addresses for those locations on file with the Commission.  Here, JC Towing had two different addresses on file with the Commission at the time of the alleged violations: (a) a physical and mailing address (2603 Amherst Avenue, Denver, Colorado 80216); and (b) a separate address for its storage facility (5803 Monroe Street, Denver, Colorado 80216).  Because JC Towing included only the address for its storage facility on its tow records/invoices, Staff contends that JC Towing violated Rule 6509(a)(II).   

57. JC Towing argues that, like Rule 6509(a)(VII), Rule 6509(a)(II) is ambiguous and unconstitutionally vague.  As to its ambiguity argument, JC Towing argues that the best interpretation of Rule 6509(a)(II) is that a towing carrier that lists different mailing, storage, and physical addresses in the Commission’s records can list any of those addresses on its tow records/invoices.  Based on this interpretation, JC Towing concludes that it did not violate Rule 6509(a)(II).
58. Assuming that Rule 6509(a)(II)-(III) requires a towing carrier to include both the address of the towing carrier and the address of its storage facility (if the towing carrier has a separate address for each on file with the Commission), Staff has not presented any evidence that JC Towing intentionally violated these requirements.  The warning letters and CPANs did not allege violations of this alleged requirement,
 and there is no evidence that a member of the Commission communicated with Mr. Martinez or any other representative of JC Towing regarding the requirements of Rule 6509(a)(II)-(III) before the violations alleged in the CPAN.  Accordingly, based on the foregoing, Staff has not satisfied its burden of establishing that JC Towing intentionally violated Rule 6509(a)(II).   
G. Violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV) (Counts 112 through 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146)
59. Rule 6509(a)(IV) states in relevant part that “[t]he tow record/invoice shall contain . . . the date and  time the towed motor vehicle is placed in storage.”
  As noted above, JC Towing concedes that nothing is written into the “Time At Storage Lot” field in the invoices cited in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146.  And, JC Towing received a warning letter in November 2012 alleging two violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV) for not recording the time the towed vehicles were placed in storage.
  Accordingly, the ALJ concludes that Staff has satisfied its burden of proving that JC Towing intentionally committed the violations alleged in Counts 114, 116, 117, 119 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, and 146.  

As to Counts 112 and 113 above, the ALJ found credible Mr. Martinez’s testimony that the “VOID” written on invoices 9320 and 9330 means that the vehicles identified 

60. therein were disconnected from the tow vehicle prior to being towed and thus were never stored in JC Towing’s storage lot.  It would not make sense to require a tow vehicle operator to write a time in the “Time At Storage Lot Field” when the vehicle was never placed in storage.  Accordingly, the ALJ concludes that Staff has not satisfied its burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that JC Towing violated Rule 6509(a)(IV) in Counts 112 and 113.  
H. Violations of Rule 6509(a)(IX) (Counts 148, 150, and 151)

61. Rule 6509(a)(IX) states that “[t]he tow record/invoice shall contain . . . the unit number or license number of the towing vehicle.”
  JC Towing concedes that nothing is written into the “Unit” field of the invoices cited in Counts 148, 150, and 151.  Instead, JC Towing contends that Rule 6509(a)(IX) is ambiguous because JC Towing’s two trucks have a license plate number, U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) number, and a “PUC number.”  According to JC Towing, it is not clear which of these numbers must be included on the tow invoice.  

62. Rule 6509(a)(IX) is not ambiguous.  The meaning of “unit number or license number” are clear.  The former is the number assigned by the towing vehicle operator to the tow vehicle performing the tow when the operator has more than one vehicle.  The latter is the license plate number of the tow vehicle performing the tow.  

63. The rule does not state or suggest that a U.S DOT number or a Commission permit number qualifies as either the “unit number or license number,” and JC Towing’s behavior evidences this interpretation.  Indeed, Mr. Martinez at-times filled out the “Unit” field of his invoices by writing a “1” in that field.
  He did not write his vehicle’s U.S. DOT number or his Commission permit number.  

64. Finally, JC Towing received a warning letter and a CPAN alleging the violation of this requirement in November 2012 and April 2013, respectively.  Both identified Rule 6509(a)(IX) as the basis for the violation.  While the warning letter stated that the identified tow invoices did not include “the unit number of the tow vehicle,” the CPAN stated that the tow record/invoice was “[m]issing Unit or license number of the towing vehicle.”  The warning letter and CPAN alleging violations of the same rule at issue here establishes JC Towing’s intent to violate Rule 6509(a)(IX) in the current CPAN.  
65. Based on the foregoing, the ALJ finds and concludes that Staff has satisfied its burden of proving Counts 148, 150, and 151.  
I. Penalty   
66. Staff requests a total penalty of $17,393.75 against JC Towing for the Counts on which the ALJ has found liability, which breaks down as follows:
	CPAN Counts
	Rules Violated
	Counts × Proposed Penalty
	Total Proposed Penalty

	Counts 3-10
	6005(a)(I)
	8 Counts × $316.25
	$2,530.00

	Counts 16, 17, 32 and 38
	6508(b)(II)
	4 Counts × $1,265
	$5,060.00

	Counts 114, 116, 117, 119-125, 127, 
129-144, and 146
	6509(a)(IV)
	28 Counts × $316.25
	$8,855.00

	Counts 148, 
150, and 151
	6509(a)(IX)
	3 Counts × $316.25
	$948.75

	
	
	Grand Total =
	$17,393.75


67. Staff also requests that, pursuant to Rule 6511(i), JC Towing be ordered to refund the fees collected for 16 of the tows that the ALJ has found violated Commission rules.
  The total refund amount for those 16 tows is $4,262.80.
  Accordingly, the total amount that Staff requests the ALJ to order JC Towing to pay is $21,656.55.  

68. Staff is seeking the maximum penalty permitted by Rule for every violation found by the ALJ.  The applicable rules state that “a violation . . . may result in the assessment of a civil penalty of up to” the maximum amount allowed.
  The rules thus provide the ALJ with discretion to determine the appropriate penalty for each violation.  

69. In determining the amount of any penalty, Rule 1302(b) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure provides:

(b)
The Commission may impose a civil penalty, when provided by law.  The Commission will consider any evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

(I)
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
the degree of the respondent’s culpability;

(III)
the respondent’s history of prior offenses;

(IV)
the respondent’s ability to pay;

(V)
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
the effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

(VI)
the size of the respondent’s business; and

(VII)
such other factors as equity and fairness may require.

1. Analysis of Aggravating/Mitigating Factors

70. The ALJ has found that JC Towing committed 43 violations of the Commission’s rules, which is an aggravating factor.  The rules violated pertain to record-keeping and the inclusion of the required information on those records.  For the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV) for failure to write the time when the towed vehicles entered JC Towing’s storage lot, in each case the vehicle owners were charged for only one 24-hour period of storage.  Inclusion of this information on the tow record/receipt matters most when a vehicle owner is charged for multiple 24-hour periods.  For the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IX) for failure to identify the tow unit/license number, Mr. Martinez serves as the only tow operator for JC Towing the great majority of the time, which means that identifying the employee responsible for any particular tow is rarely, if ever, an issue.  

71. In addition, as noted above, the perceived egregious nature of the events that served as the basis for Count 152 was the impetus for the broader investigation into Respondent’s tows over a six-month period.
  It is also apparent that these events influenced Staff’s decision to charge large numbers of violations for each category of rule violation.
  The foregoing facts help to explain the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the high number of violations included in the CPAN.  
72. The fact that JC Towing has been the subject of eight previous warning letters and two previous CPANs is an aggravating factor.  The warning letters stated that similar violations in the future could result in a civil penalty and/or revocation of JC Towing’s permit.
  The Commission warned JC Towing of the consequences if it continued with its actions.  JC Towing failed to adequately heed those warnings.  
73. That JC Towing continued to perform tows at the time of the hearing even though its permit had expired and its insurance had been revoked is also an aggravating factor.  Specifically, JC Towing’s towing permit expired on March 1, 2018 and his insurance was revoked soon thereafter.
  Nevertheless, at the hearing, Mr. Martinez testified that he continued to perform tows after the expiration of his permit and revocation of his insurance.
  

74. The evidence concerning the expiration of JC Towing’s permit and revocation of its insurance was introduced during Staff’s rebuttal case.  During his closing, JC Towing’s attorney stated that Mr. Martinez had been unaware of these events prior to Staff’s rebuttal case.  JC Towing filed an application for and received a renewed permit and filed proof of insurance on May 4, 2018, the day after the hearing completed.
  The fact that JC Towing moved quickly to renew its permit and provide evidence of financial responsibility after the hearing mitigates this factor to some extent.  On balance, however, this factor aggravates JC Towing’s culpability in this matter.  

75. JC Towing’s ability to pay the amount sought by Staff in penalties and the requested refunds is a mitigating factor.  As noted above, JC Towing presented evidence that it earns approximately $30,000 in annual income.
  Further, Mr. Martinez’s testimony that he would have to sell all of his assets, including his tow trucks, to pay the penalties and refunds sought by Staff, which would put JC Towing out of business, was credible.
  Based on his annual income, it is reasonable to conclude that imposing even substantially lower penalties and refunds would put JC Towing at risk.  
76. None of the owners of the towed vehicles identified in the tow invoices/records that serve as the basis for the Counts in this proceeding filed a complaint with the Commission regarding the tows.  Further, as counsel for Staff conceded during closing arguments, there is no evidence that any of the vehicles identified in the tow records/invoices were properly parked when they were towed by JC Towing.  These circumstances are a mitigating factor. 
77. JC Towing’s attempts to come into compliance with the Commission’s Rules governing the information required on tow records/invoices are also a mitigating factor.  Mr. Martinez changed the addresses on file with the Commission on November 1, 2017 so that now JC Towing’s mailing and physical addresses match the address for the storage lot.  This has resulted in JC Towing having only one address on file with the Commission and that address matches the address on its tow records/invoices.
  
78. Finally, Mr. Martinez spoke with Investigator String on multiple occasions concerning the violations and the need to revise his tow records/invoices to comply with the address requirements of the Commission’s rules.
  Mr. Martinez and his attorney also met with Investigator String and Mr. Martinez has worked with his attorney to comply with the Commission’s rules.  While that meeting was not as productive as it could have been, and no comprehensive plan for bringing Mr. Martinez into full compliance with the Commission’s rules was presented at the hearing, Mr. Martinez deserves some credit for his efforts.  
2. Application
79. Based on the foregoing, the ALJ assesses the following penalties. For the violations of Rule 6005(a)(I), JC Towing offered no compelling mitigating evidence or argument concerning these violations.  Accordingly, the ALJ assesses a penalty per violation of $316.25.  This results in total penalties for JC Towing’s violations of Rule 6005(a)(I) of $2,530.00.  
80. For the violations of Rule 6508(b)(I) for failure to include the telephone number of the individual authorizing the tow, the tow contract between JC Towing and the McDonald’s restaurant included a telephone number,
 which was written on other invoices signed by the same individuals who signed the invoices cited in Counts 32 and 38.
  As a result, under these circumstances, it is not difficult to identify the telephone number of the individuals who authorized the tows at issue.  Based on the foregoing, the ALJ assesses penalties of $300 per violation, which results in a penalty of $1,200 for the violations of Rule 6508(b)(I).  
81. For the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV) for failure to write the time when the towed vehicles entered JC Towing’s storage lot, in each case the vehicle owners were charged for only one 24-hour period of storage.  In contrast, as noted above, inclusion of the storage commencement time matters most when the vehicle owner is charged for multiple 24-hour periods.  The ALJ thus assesses penalties of $50 per violation, which results in a total penalty of $1,400 for the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IV).   
82. Finally, for the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IX) for failure to identify the tow unit/license number, while Mr. Martinez has two tow trucks and hires a “helper” from time to time, he serves as the only tow operator for JC Towing.  This means that identifying the JC Towing employee responsible for any particular tow is rarely, if ever, an issue.  The ALJ thus assesses $20 per violation, which results in a total penalty of $60 for the violations of Rule 6509(a)(IX).    
83. Accordingly, based on the evidence presented, findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the discussion above, the ALJ finds that a civil penalty of $5,190, which includes the 
15 percent surcharge, for the 125 violations proven by Staff shall be assessed.  The penalty is broken down as follows:

	CPAN Counts
	Rules Violated
	Counts × Penalty
	Total Penalty

	Counts 3-10
	6005(a)(I)
	8 Counts × $316.25
	$2,530.00

	Counts 16, 17, 32, and 38
	6508(b)(I)
	4 Counts × $300
	$1,200.00

	Counts 114, 116, 117, 119-125, 127, 
129-144, and 146
	6509(a)(IV)
	28 Counts × $50
	    $1,400.00

	Counts 148, 150, 
and 151
	6509(a)(IX)
	3 Counts × $20
	       $60.00

	
	
	Grand Total =
	$5,190.00


84. This significant assessment, while lower than requested by Staff, will provide JC Towing with a strong incentive to comply with the law, punish JC Towing for its past illegal behavior, but also provide JC Towing an opportunity to continue its operations.  
J. Refunds

85. As noted above, Staff seeks refunds for 16 of the tows that the ALJ has found violated Commission rules, which amounts to $4,262.80.
  The then-applicable Rule 6511(i) stated in relevant part:

Noncompliance.  If a tow is performed in violation of state statute or Commission rules, the towing carrier shall not charge or retain any fees or charges for the services it performs. . . Any money collected must be returned to the owner, authorized operator, or authorized agent of the owner of a motor vehicle.

This language is mandatory and thus requires the refund of any fees or charges for any tow that has violated Commission rules.  Accordingly, and because the ALJ has found and concluded that the tows identified in Counts 114, 116, 121, 122, 124, 125, 129, 130, 132, 133, 134, 137, 140, 141, 143, and 150 violated Commission rules, JC Towing shall be ordered to refund the fees and charges it collected for those tows.  
86. Within 30 days of the effective date of the final decision of this Commission in this proceeding, JC Towing shall submit to the Commission checks or money orders made out to each of the 16 refund recipients identified in Exhibit 17.  To aid JC Towing in this task, the counts and associated invoice numbers that are subject to this refund requirement are as follows (invoices are in parentheses following the count): Counts 114 (9354), 116 (9348), 121 (9391), 122 (9397), 124 (9419), 125 (9430), 129 (9447), 130 (9450), 132 (9460), 133 (9483), 134 (9481), 137 (9275), 140 (8577), 141 (9069), 143 (9131), and 150 (9063).  
K. Cease and Desist Order

87. Finally, Staff requests an order requiring JC Towing to cease and desist from violating the rules that serve as the basis for the Counts in the CPAN and from operating without a permit and/or insurance.
  Section 40-10.1-112(1), C.R.S. provides in relevant part that:

Except as specified in subsection (3) of this section [relating to summary suspensions of certificates and permits], the commission, at any time, by order duly entered, after hearing upon notice to the motor carrier and upon proof of violation, may issue an order to cease and desist . . . for the following reasons:  

. . . . 

(c)
a violation or refusal to observe any of the proper orders or rules of the commission; 

Similarly, Rule 6008(c) of the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Carrier, states in relevant part that:
(c)
After a hearing upon at least ten days’ notice to the motor carrier affected, and upon proof of violation, the Commission may issue an order to cease and desist, suspend, revoke, alter, or amend any certificate or permit for the following reasons: 

(I)
a violation of, or failure to comply with, any statute, order, or rule concerning a motor carrier;

88. Here, Decision No. R18-0193-I gave JC Towing proper notice of the May 2 and 3, 2018 hearing.
  Further, JC Towing has been found to have violated this Commission’s Rules as noted above, and has not heeded the Commission’s previous warning letters.  Accordingly, based on substantial evidence in the record proving the violations by JC Towing and the aggravating factors found in this Decision, JC Towing will be ordered to cease and desist from violating Rules 6005(a)(1), 6508(b)(1), 6509(a)(IV), and 6509(a)(IX).
IV. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. Respondent JC Auto Towing LLC (JC Towing) is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $5,190 for its violations stated in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 119495 (CPAN), which includes the 15 percent surcharge.  

2. JC Towing shall refund the fees and charges it collected for the tows identified in Counts 114, 116, 121, 122, 124, 125, 129, 130, 132, 133, 134, 137, 140, 141, 143, and 150 of the CPAN.  Within 30 days of the effective date of the final decision of this Commission in this proceeding, JC Towing shall submit to the Commission checks or money orders made out to each of the 16 refund recipients identified in Exhibit 17 for the fees and charges it collected for those tows.  
3. JC Towing is hereby ordered to cease and desist, as of the effective date 
of this Decision, from violating Commission Rules 6005(a)(1), 6508(b)(1), 6509(a)(IV), and 6509(a)(IX), 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6.  
4. Proceeding No. 17G-0839TO is closed.  

5. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

6. As provided by §40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  


a)
If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the Recommended Decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.


b)
If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in §40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

7. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
	(S E A L)
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� Compare Exhibit 20 (CPAN with Counts that identify invoices that serve as the basis therefor) with Exhibit 16 at 6, 16, 30, 32, 45, 47, 48, 56, 57, 62, 64, 65, 68, 69, 75, 84, 90, 92, 94, 95, 97, 106, 111, 116, 117, 119, 122, 125, 127, 138, 141, 142, 143, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157, 163, 164, 166, 170, 173, 175, 179, and 184 (refund letters identifying invoices that are not identified in CPAN as bases for counts).  


� The dates are in 2017 unless otherwise indicated.  


� This and the numbers below included in parentheses after the dates are JC Towing’s invoice numbers.  See Exhibit 14 (invoices with unique numbers in upper right corner). 


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 2-5, 94; Transcript, Vol. 3 at 2.  


� Transcript. Vol. 2 at 2-5.  


� Id.  


� Transcript, Vol. 3 at 7-14.  


� Exhibit 22 (showing Mr. Martinez’s signature adjacent to statements that “PUC took possession of these documents and invoices” and “Returned all invoices and documentation to Joe Martinez”).  


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 133.  


� Exhibit 22 (fifth entry in the sixth column).  


� Transcript, Vol. 3 at 16.  


� Exhibit 22  


� Transcript, Vol. 3 at 37-38.  


� Transcript, Vol. 3 at 38-39.  


� Exhibit 11 at 20, 21, and 34, respectively.   


� Id. at 27, 37.


� See Exhibit 1.  


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 105-06.  


� Compare Exhibit 23 (showing that JC Towing listed a physical/mailing address separate from its storage facility address from February 4, 2016 until November 1, 2017) with Exhibit 19 at 8,9 (warning letters dated July 28, 2016 and August 8, 2016 referencing tow records/invoices produced by JC Towing but not alleging violations of Rule 6509(a)(II) for failure to list both addresses on the tow records/invoices).    


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 154-55.  


� Exhibit 14 at 6,12; CPAN at 10.  


� Transcript. Vol. 2 at 2-5.  


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 155-56.  


� Id.  


� See, e.g., Exhibit 11 at 3-11.  


� Exhibit 19 at 1-2, 4.  


� Exhibit 19 at 4.  


� Id.


� Id.  


� Id. at 6, 9.


� Id. at 7.  


� Id. at 8, 9.  


� Id. at 10, 11.  


� Id. at 3, 5.


� Id. at 5.  


� Id. at 5.  


� Exhibit K.  Staff objected to the admission of the tax return and profit and loss statement on hearsay grounds, but the objection was overruled and the exhibits admitted.  See Green v. U.S., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 139771, *6 (W.D. Okl. Oct. 7, 2016) (“if a party seeks to offer his own tax return, adopts it while testifying and is subject to cross-examination, any hearsay danger is substantially mitigated.”) (citing Fed. R. Evid. 801(d) advisory committee's note regarding the 1972 Proposed Rules (“If the witness admits on the stand that he made the statement and that it was true, he adopts the statement and there is no hearsay problem.”)).


� Exhibit L.  


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 158.  


� Exhibit 20 at 14, 16.  


� Section 24-4-105(7), C.R.S.; § 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; Rule 1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.   


� City of Boulder v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, 996 P.2d 1270, 1278 (Colo. 2000) (quoting CF&I Steel, L.P. v. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, 949 P.2d 577, 585 (Colo. 1997)).  


� The statute has since been amended to remove “intentionally,” which went into effect on August 9, 2017, after the latest violation date alleged in the CPAN.   


� Decision No. C14-0774 issued in Proceeding No. 14G-0149EC on July 8, 2014 at 4 (¶ 8).  


� Id. at 5 (¶ 9).  


� Decision No. R15-0606 issued in Consolidated Proceeding No. 14G-0552TO on June 29, 2015 at 15 and 17 0(¶¶ 69-71, 80) (holding that Staff did not satisfy burden of proof because it did not establish “the necessary intent”).  


� Decision No. C14-1187-I issued in Proceeding No. 14G-0149EC on September 29, 2014 at (¶ 20).


� 4 CCR 723-6.  All Rule citations are to those rules in effect from January 1, 2016 to July 15, 2017, which was the period during which all of the alleged violations took place.  


� Exhibit A.  


� Exhibit 19 at 6, 9.  


� 4 CCR 723-6.  


� Id.  


� Id. (emphasis added).  


� Exhibit 19 at 4.  


� 4 CCR 723-6.  


� See Exhibit 19. 


� 4 CCR 723-6.  


� See Exhibit 19 at 4.  


� 4 CCR 723-6.  


� See, e.g., Exhibit 11 at 3-11.  


� See Exhibit 17 (excluding the refund sought for invoice 9421 that served as the basis for Count 126, which Staff dismissed).  See also Transcript, Vol. 2 at 43-44 (describing the refunds as the “first and foremost relief” sought by Staff).  


� Staff seeks refunds for the following counts on which the ALJ has found liability: Counts 114, 116, 121, 122, 124, 125, 129, 130, 132, 133, 134, 137, 140, 141, 143, and 150.  Compare Counts 114, 116, 121 through 125, 127, 129 through 144, 146, 148, 150, and 151 with Exhibit 117.   


� See Rule 6017(d) (“a violation of any provision of rules 6000 through 6016 . . . may result in the assessment of a civil penalty of up to $275.00 for each violation”); 6514(a)(II) (“A violation of any of the following provisions may result in the assessment of a civil penalty of up to $1,100.00 for each violation: . . . �(II) subparagraph (b)(I), (b)(II), (b)(IV)(B), or (b)(VI)(D) of rule 6508.”); 6514(e) (“a violation of . . . any provision of rules 6500 through 6513, may result in the assessment of a civil penalty of up to $275.00 for each violation.”) (emphases added).


� 4 CCR 723-1.


�  Transcript, Vol. 1 at 49; Transcript, Vol. 2 at 54.  


� Rule 1302(b)(1), 4 CCR 723-1 (directing the Commission to consider, among other things, the circumstances of the violations).


�  See Exhibit 19.  


�  See Exhibits 24 and 25.  


�  Transcript, Vol. 2 at 164-65.  


� This is reflected in the Commission’s Integrated Filings Management System.  See Rule 1501(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1 (“The Commission may take administrative notice . . . of documents in its files”).  


� See Exhibits K, L.  


� Transcript, Vol. 2 at 158.  


� Exhibit 23 at 1-2 (showing that the “Mailing,” “OPR Mailing,” and “Physical” addresses were changed to match the address for the storage lot on November 1, 2017).   


� Transcript, Vol. 1 at 81-83, 85-87, 100-05.  


� Exhibit 10.  


� Compare Exhibit 11 at 7 (Neil Jones signed the tow record/invoice) with Exhibit 11 at 1-4 (Neil Jones signed tow records/invoices and included the telephone number from the tow contract); compare Exhibit 11 at 28, 39 (Sarai Mayes signed the tow record/invoice) with Exhibit 11 at 22, 29, 35 (Sarai Mayes signed tow records/invoices and included the telephone number from the tow contract).


� See supra n. 111.


� Transcript, Vol. 3 at 64.  


� 4 CCR 723-6.  


� See Commission Rule 6013, 4 CCR 723-6 (“Notice sent to the motor carrier’s address on file with the Commission shall constitute prima facie evidence that the motor carrier received the notice.”).  
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